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Filing Pursuant to Section 33 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 by A I M Management Group

Inc., AIM Investment Services, Inc., A IM Advisors, Inc. (1940 Act Registration No. 801-12313),
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Ladies and Gentlemen:

Pursuant to Section 33 of the Investment Company Act of 1940, we hereby file on behalf of A I M Management
Group Inc., AIM Investment Services, Inc., AIM Advisors, Inc. (1940 Act Registration No. 801-12313),
INVESCO Funds Group, Inc., and the following persons, a copy of a Class Action Complaint in Robert P. Apu,

etal. v. AI M Management Group, Inc., et al.
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Sincerely,

AIM Total Return Bond Fund

AIM Trimark Endeavor Fund

AIM Trimark Fund

AIM Trimark Small Companies Fund
AIM Weingarten Fund

INVESCO Advantage HealthSciences Fund
INVESCO Core Equity Fund
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Stephen R. Rimes
Assistant General Counsel
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Mr. Robert B. Pike, SEC — Fort Worth
Mr. James H. Perry, SEC — Fort Worth
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURJUNITED STATS COURTS

eRM DISTRICT OF TEXAS
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS FLED
S5 JUL 15 2004
HOUSTON DIVISION - ,
ROBERT P. APU, SUZANNE K. APU, MARINA Pt iy s, it o 9%

BERTL KHANH DINH, FRANK KENDRICK,
EDWARD A, KREZEL, DAN B. LESIUK, JOHN -
B. PERKINS, MILDRED E, RURHLMAN, LOUIS  CIVIL ACTIONNO. __

E.V'S‘;%RC?DE:, J. DORIS WILLSON, and ROBERT H - 0 4 - 2 8 8 4

Plaintiffs,

Ve JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

A Manzgement Group Inc.,

INVESCO Funds Group, Inec.,

ATM Investment Services, Inc.,

A Advisors, Ine.,

Robert H. Graham,

Mark H. Williamson,

Frank S. Bayley,

Bruce L. Crockett,

Albert R, Dowden,

Bdward X. Dunn, Jr.,

Jack M. Fielda,

Carl Frischling,

Prema Mathai-Davis,

Lewis B, Pennock,

Ruth H, Quigley, and

Louis S, Sklar, and

JOHN DOES 1-109,
Defendants,

AIM Aggressive Growth Fund,

AIM Asia Pacific Growth Fund,

AIM Balanced Fund,

ATM Bagic Balanced Fund,

ADM Basic Value Pund,

A Blue Chip Fund,

ATDM Capital Development Fund,
AIM Charter Fund,

ADM Constellation Fund,

AIM Dent Demographic Trends Fund,

Caption continued on following page
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AIM Developing Markets Fund,

AIM Diversified Dividend Fund,

AIM Bmerging Growth Fund,

ATM Eurcpean Growth Fund,

AIM Buropean Small Company Pund,
AIM Floating Rets Fund,

AIM Global Aggrassive Growth Fund,
AIM Global Equity Fund,

ADM Global Growth Fund,

AIM Global Health Care Fund,

AIM Global Valua Fund,

AIM Group Income Fund,

AIM Group Value Fund,

AIM High Income Municipal Fund,
AIM High Yield Fund,

AIM Income Fund,

AIM Intermediate Government Fund,
AIM International Emerging Growth Fund,
ATM Intermational Growth Fund,

AIM Large Cep Besic Value Pund,
AIM Large Cep Growth Pund,

ATM Libra Fund,

AIM Limited Maturity Tressury Fund,
ATM Mid Cap Basic Value Fund,
AIM Mid Cap Core Bquity Fund,
AIM Mid Cap Growth Pund,

AIM Municipal Bond Fuad,

AIM Opportunities I Fund,

AIM Opportunities I Fund,

AIM Opportunities Ul Fund,

AIM Premier Equity Fund,

AIM Real Betats Fund,

ADM Sslect Equity Pund,

AIM Short Term Bond Fund,

ATM Small Cap Equity Fund,

AIM Small Cap Growth Fund,

ATM Tax-Free [ntermediate Fund,
AIM Total Return Bond Fund,

AIM Trimark Endeavor Fund,

AW Trimark Fund,

ADM Trimark Small Campanies Rund,
ATM Weingarten Fund,

INVESCO Advantage Health Sciencss Fund,

INVEICQ Core Bquity Fund,
INVESCO Dynamics Mund,

Caption continned on following page
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INVBSCO Energy Fund,

INVESCO Financial Services Pund,
INVESCO Gold & Precious Metals Fund,
INVESCO Health Sciences Fund,
INVESCO International Core Bquity Fand,
INVESCQO Leisure Fund,

INVESCO Multi-Sector Fund,

INVESCO Mid-Cap Growth Fund,
INVESCO S&P 500 Index Fund,
INVESCO Small Company Growth Fund,
INVESCO Technology Fund,

INVESCO Total Return Fund,

INVESCO Utilities Pund

(collectively, the “ADM/INVESCO Funds™),

N N S St ™ e Sr? st

Norminal Defendants,

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR EXCESSIVE FEES IN VIOLATION OF
SECTIONS 34(b), 36(b) AND 48(a) OF THE INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT
AND SECTIONS 206 AND 215 OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT, AND FOR
BREACHES OF FIDUCIARY DUTY

TO THE HONORABLE UNITED STATES COURT:

Flaintiffs Robert P. Apu, Suzanne K. Apu, Marinza Berti, Khanh Dinl, Frank Kendrick,
Bdward A, Krezel, Dan B. Lesiuk, John B, Perkins, Miidred E. Ruehiman, Louis B. Sperry, J.
Doris Willsan, and Robert W. Wood, by and through their counsel, sllege the following hased
’upon the investigation of counsel, which included a review of United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SBC™) filings, as well s other repnlatory filings, reports, and
advisories, press releases, media repotts, news articles, academic literature, and academic
studies. Plaintiffs belleve that substantial additional cvidzntieu‘y' support will exist for the

allegations set forth herein after 5 reasonable opportunity for discovery.
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AT OF THE ACTION

1. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action on behalf of investors in mutual funds
belonging to the AIM Management Group Inc, and INVESCO Funds Group, Inc. families of
mutual funds, including ATM and INVESCO mutual funds (collectively, the “AIM/INVESCO
Funds"), and derivatively on behalf of the AIM/INVESCO Punds, against the AIM/INVESCO
Funds investment advisers, their corporate parenis and the AIM/INVESCO Funds direstors.

2. This complaint alleges that the Investment Adviser Defendants {as defined herein)
drew upon the assetz of the ATM/INVESCO Funds to pay brokers o aggressively push
AIM/INVESCO Funds over other funds, and that the Investment Adviser Defendants concealed
. tuch payments from investors by disguising them as brokersge commissions. Such brokerage
commissions, though paysble from fund assets, are not disclosed to investors in the
AIM/INVESCO Funds public filings or elsewhere.

3. Thus AIM/INYBSCO Punis investors were induced to purchase AIM/INVESCO
Funds by brokers who received undisciosed paymenis from the Investment Adviser Defendants
to push AIM/INVESCO Funds over cther mutual funds and who therefore had an undisclosed
conflict of interest. Then, once invested in one or more of the AIM/INVESCO . Funds,
AIMVINVESCO Funds investors ware charged and paid undisclosed fees that were impropetly
uzed to pay brokers o aggressively push AIM/TINVBSCO Punds to yet other brokerage clisnts.

4. The Inveatment Adviser Defendantz were motivated to make these gecret
vpayments to finance the improper marketing of AIM/INVESCO Funds because their foes were
calculated as a percentage of funds under management and, therefore, tended to inersase ag the
number of AIM/INVESCO Funds investors grew. The Investment Adviser Defendants
attempted to justify this conduct on the ground that by incresging the AIM/INVEBSCO Funds

assets thay were creating sconomies of scale that inured to the benefit of investors but, in truth
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and in fact, AIM/INVESCO Funds investors received none of the bensfits of these purported
economies of scale. Rather, fees and costs associated with the AIM/INVESCO Funds increased
during the Class Period (s defined herein), in large part beczuse the [nvestment Adviser
Defendants continued to skim from the ADM/INVBSCQ Funds to finance their ongoing
marketing campaign. The AIM/ANVESCO TFunds Directors, who purported to be
AIM/INVESCO Funds investor waichdogs, knowingly or recklat’:sly permitted this conduct to
occur.

5. By engaging in this conduct, the Investment Adviser Defendants, and the
defandant entities that control thern, breached their statutorily-defmed fiduciary duties under
Sections 36(g) and (b} of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the “Invesiment Company Act'”)
and Sections 206 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the “Investment Advisers Act'™,
breached their common law fiduciary duties, and knowingly aided aﬁd abetted the brokers in the
breach of fiduciary duties to their clienta. The Investment Adviser Defendants also violated
Section 34(b) of the Investment Company Act becauae, w further their improper campaign, they
made untnie statements of material fact in fimd registration statements, and material omissions,
with respect to the procedure for defermining the amount of fec§ payable fo the Investment
Advirer Defendants and with respoct to the improper uses to which the fees were put,
Additionally, the AIM/INVESCC Punds Directors breached their commen law fiduciery duties
to the AIM/ANVESCO Funds investors hy knowingly or recklessly allowing the improper
| conduct elleged herein to oecur and harm ATM/INVESCO Funds investors.

6 On January 28, 2004, the Los Angeles Times published an articls about a Senate
committes hoaring on mutual fund abuses which stated, in pertinent peart, ag follows:

“The mutal fund industry is indeed the world’s largest skimming
operation,” said Sen. Peter Fitegerald (R.Ill), chairman of the panel,



comparing the scandal-plagued industry to “a $7-trillion trough" éxploited
by fund managers, brokers and other insiders. '

(8] NUE
7. The claims asserted herein arise under and pursuant to Sections 34(b), 36(b) and
48(a) of the Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. §§80a-33(b), 802-35(g) and (b) and 80a-47(g),

Sections 206 and 215 of the Iavestment Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. §§800-6 and 80b-15, end

common law,

g, This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant fo
Section 44 of the Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. §80a-43; Section 214 ?f the Investment
~ Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. §80b-14; and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

3. Many of the acts charged herein, including the preparation and disgemination of
materially false and auslsading information, oc.cuned in substantial part in this District.
Defendants ¢conducted other substantial business within thig District and many Class members
reside within this District. Defendant INVESCO Runds Group, Inc. was at all relevant times,
and still is, headquartered in this District.

10.  In comnection with the gets alleged in this complaint, defendants, directly ot
inﬁirecﬂy, used the means and insirumentalities of interstate commerce, including, but not

limited to, the masils, intersiate telephons communications, and the facilities of the national

securiies markets,

RARIIES
11.  Plaintiff Robert P. Apu purchased during the Class Period and continues to own

shared or units of the AIM Buropean Growth Fund, AIM Group Value Fund, and AIM

Weingarten Fund, and has been damaged by the conduct alleged herein,



12.  Plaimtiff Suzanne K. Apu purchased during the Class Period and continues to own
shares or units of the AIM Buropean Growth Fund, and has been damaged by the conduct
allegad hersin,

13, Plaintiff Marina Berti purchased during the Class Period and continuss to own
sharea or units of the ATM Premicr Equity Fund, and AIM Mid Cap Core Equitymm&, and has
been damaged by the condust alleged herein. |

14, Plaintiff Khanh Dinh purchased during the Class Petiod and continues to own
shares or units of the AIM Constellation Fund, and has been damaged by the conduct alleged
herein,

15.  Plaintiff Prank Kendrick purchased during the Cleas Period and continues to own
shares or units of the AIM Weingarten Fund, and ADM Basic Value Pund, and has been damaged
by the conduct alleged herein. -

16.  Plaintiff Edward A. Krezel purchased during the Class Period and continues to
own shares or units of the AIM Basic Valus Pund, and has heen damgg;d by the conduct alleged
herein

17.  Plaintiff Dan B, Lesiuk purchased dunng the Clase Period and continues to own
shares or units of the AIM Basic Value Fund, and has been damaged by the conduct alleged
herein,

18.  Plaintiff John B. Perkina purchased during the Class Perfod and continues to own

‘sha@tee or units of the AIM Basic Value Fund, and has been damsged by the conduct alleged
hersin,

19.  Plainfiff Mildred E, Ruehiman purchased during the Cless Period and continues to
own shares or units of the ATM Basic Value Pund, AIM Weaingarten Fund, and AIM Charter

Pund, and has been damaged by the conduct alleged herein,



20.  Plaintiff Louis E. Sperry purchased during the Class Period and continues to own
shares or units of the ATM Basic Value Fund, and has been damaged by the conduct alleged
herein,

21.  Plaintiff J. Dotis Willson purchased during the Class Period and continues to own
shares or units of the AIM Premier Equity Fund, and INVESCO Dynamics Fund, and bas been
damaged by the conduet alleged herein. '

22,  Plaintiff Robert W. Wood purchased during the Class Period and conticwes to
own shares or wnits of the AIM Select Equity Pund, and has been damagsd by the conduct
alleged herein.

23,  AMVESCAP PLC is one of the largest independent global investment managers
in the world with more than $370.6 billion in assets under management. AMVESCAP PLC is the
perent of Defendants, AIM Investment Services, Inc. and INVESCO Funds Group, Inc.

24, Defendant AIM Investment Services, Inc. (‘AIM™) represents investment
management companies under the AIM and INVESCO brand names, with $148 billion in asseis
under mansgement as of March 31, 2004, AIM is lccated at 11 Gresnway Plaza, Suite 100,
Houston, TX 77046,

25.  Defendant INVBSCO Funds Group, Inc, (“INVESCQ™) is an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of AMVESCAP PLC located at 4350 8. Momaco Street, Denver, Colorado
80273 and was at all relevant times the inveatment advisor to the INVBSCO Funds. INVESCQ
continues to serve as the investment advisor to INVESCO Variable Investment Funds, Inc
("IVIF”). On November 25, 2003, AIM sucseeded INVESCO as the investment advisor to the
INVBSCO ?unds other than IVIF.

26.  AIM Management Group Inc, (“AMG”) is the parent company of AIM Advisors,

Ine. AMG is located at 11 Greenway Plaza, Suits 100, Heuston, TX 77046.
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27.  Defendant AIM Advigers, Ine. (*ADM Advisors™) sﬁes as investment advisor to
the AIM/INVESCO Punds and tany other mutual funds. During the fiscal year 2003, AIM
Advisors, Inc. received compenastion of 67% of average daily net assets. Together with its
subeidiaries, AIM Advisors, Inc. manages or advises over 190 portfolics. AIM Advisors, Inc. is
located at 11 Greenway Plaza, Buite 100, Houston, TX 77046. |

28, AIM, INVBSCO, and AIM Advisors are raferred to collectively herein as the
“Investment Adviser Defendants,”

29,  The Investment Adviser Defendants are registered es investment advisers under
the [nvestment Advisers Act. Fees payable to the Investment Adviser Defendamts are calculated
85 & percentage of fund gssetr under management. The Investment Adviser Defendants hed
ultimate responsibility for averseeing the day-to-day manegement of the AIM/INVESCO Funds.

30.  Defendants Robert H, Graham (“Grahan'"), Mark H. Wiliiamaon (“Williamson”),
Frank S. Bayley (“Bayley™, Bruce L. Crockett (“Crocke#”), Albert R Dowden (“Dowden™,
Edward K. Dunn, Jr. ("Dunn”), Jack M. Fields (“Fields™), Carl Prischling (“Prischling’), Prema
Mathai-Davis (“Msthai-Davis™), Lewis F. Pennock ("Pennock”), Ruth H. Quigley (“Quigley”),
and Louis S. Sklar (“Sklar”™) were trustees or officers/directors of the AIMANVERSCO Funds, to
the extent indicated dbelow, during the Class Period, All of the trustees and officers/dirsctors are
located at 11 Gresnway Plaza, Suits 100, Houston, TX 77046, Additionally:

(@)  Greham was g director andfor trustee and Chaimmen of AMG during the
dma Period, Grahare is an interested person of the Trust because he is a Director of
AMVEBSCAP PLC, parent of the advisor of the Trust.

(b)  Williamson was a director and/or tustee, President and Chief Bxecutive

Officer of AMG during the Clase Period. Williamson wag also CBQ of INVESCO and IDI



during the Clasgs Period, Williamson is an interested person of the Trust because be {s an officer
and direotor of the advisar of the AIM European Fund.

{c) Bayley was 2 director endlor trustes during the Class Period. Bayley
received compensation totaling $150,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002,

(d)  Crockett waa a director and/or trustee during the Class Perind. Crockett
received compensation lotaling $149,000 for the year snded Dccun'bcr 31,2002

(&) Dowden was a director and/or trustee during the Class Period. Dowdsn
received compensation totaling $150,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002,

() Dunn was a director Mor trugtee during the Class Period. Dunn
received compensation totaling $149,000 for the ysar snded December 31, 2002,

(g) Piclds was n dircotor and/or trustes during the Class Period. Fields
received compensation totaling $153,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002,

(h)  Frischling wss a director and/or ttustee during the Cless Period.
Frischiing received compensation totaling $150,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002,

'¢)] Mathai-Davis was & director andfor trustee during the Cless Period.
Mathai-Davis received compensafion totaling $150,000 for the year ended Decemnber 31, 2002,

{H Pennock was e director and/or truatee during the Class Period. Pennock
received compensztion totaling $154,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002,

(&)  Quigley was a director and/or trustee during the Class Period. Quigley
.rcccivcd compensation totaling $133,000 for the year ended Decamber 31, 2002,

) Sklar was 2 director and/or trustee during the Class Peniod. Sklar received
compengation totaling $153,000 far the yesr ended December 31, 2002.
' 31.  Defendants Jofim Does 1-100 wer;.: AIM/INVBSCO trustess and/or dixectors

during the Class Period, and any othzr wrongdoer later discovered, whose identities have yet 10
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be ascertained and which will be detemmined during the course of Plaintiffs' counsel's engoing
investigation.

32.  Graham, Willlamson, Baylsy, Crockett, Dowden, Dunn, PRiclds, Frischling,
Mathai-Davis, Pennock, Quigley, and Sklar, and John Docs 1-100 are referrsd to collectively
herein as the “Director Defendants.” .

3. Nominal defendants the AM/ANVESCO Funds, as identified in the caption of this
complaint and on the list annexed hereto as Exhibit A, ate opsa-ctuded management companies
consisting of the capital invested by mutual fund shareholders, each having a board of Directors
charged with reprssenting the interests of the shareholders in one or a series of the funds. The
ADM/INVESCO Punds are named a3 nominal defendants to the extent that they may he deemed
necesssry end inlispenrable parties pursuant 1o Rule 19 of the Federal Rules of Civil Precedure
and ta the extent necessary to ensure the availability of adequate remedies.

RELATED NON-PARTIES

34. ATM Distributors, Inc., a private subsidiary of ADM Managetnent Group Inc. and
& broker-dealer registersd with the Securities and Exchange Commission, setves ag the principal
underwriter of each Clasa of the AIM/INVESCO Funds. ATM Distributors, Inc. is located at 11
Greenway Plaza, Suite 800, Houston, Texas 77046.

35. INVESCO Diatributors, Inc. ‘IDI") is a8 wholly-owned subsidiary of INVBSCO
which is located at 4350 South Monaco Street, Denver Colorado. IDI is a broker-dealer

-r\egistmed with the Securitiss and Bxchange Commission and serves as the principal underwriter

of each Class of the 47 INVESCC Funds. IDI is located at 4350 South Monaco Street, Denver,
Colorado 80237,
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’ TIONS

26.  Plaintiffs bring certain of these claims as a ¢lass action purswant to Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 23(e) and (b)(3) on behalf of two sub-classes: (1) Plaintiffs bring an action on
behalf of all persons or antifiea who purchased, redeemed or held shares or like interests in any
of the AIM Punde between May 10, 1999 and November 17, 2003, inclusive, and whe were
damaged thereby (the “ATM Clags™); and (2) on behalf of all pmdm or entities who purchaged,
redsemad or held shares or like interests in any of the INVESCO Funds between May 10, 1993
and November 17, 2003, inclusive, and who were damaged thereby (the “INVEICO Class™).
Excludsd fom each Class are defendants, membets of their immediste familiss and their'legal
representatives, heirs, successors or assigns and any enfity in which defendants have or hed 2
controlling intarest.

27.  The members of cach Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable. While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiffs at this tims
and can only be sscertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiffs beliove that there are many
thousands of members in each proposed Class. Record owners and other members of each Class
may be identified from records maintained by INVESCO end AMG and the Investment Adviser
Defendants and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice
sirniler to that custornarily ussd in seeurities class actions.

28, Plaintiffs’ ¢laims are typical of the claims of the members of each Cless s all
members of cach Class are similarly affected by defendants” wrongful conduct in violation of
federal law that ig compleined of herein.

29, Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the membars of each

Class and have refained counsel competent and sxpericnced in class and securities litigation.
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30. Common questions of law and fact exist as 1o all members of each Clags and
predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of cach Class. Among the
questions of law and fact common to each Class are:

{a)  whether the Investment Cempany Act was violated by defendants’ acts as
slleged herein;

(t)  whether the Investment Advisers Act was violated by dafendants® acts as
alleged herein;

(¢)  whether the Investment Adviser Defendants breached their common law
flduciary dutiss and/or knowingly aided and abetted common law breaches of Bduciary duties;

(d)  whether statements made by defendants 10 the investing public during the
Class Period misrepresented or omitted to disclose material facts about the business, operations
and financial statements of the AIM/INVESCO Funds; and

(¢}  to what extent the members of each Class have sustained damages and the
proper measure of damagea,

31. A cless ection is supenior to all other aveilabls methods for the fair end efficient
adjudication of this controvetsy since joinder of all members is impracticeble. Furthermors, as
the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively amall, the expense and
burden of individual litigation make it virtuslly impossible for memberm of each Class to
individually redrsss the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of
this action as & olass astion.

SIUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS -

The Director Defendants Breached Their
Fiduciary Dytles To AIMINVESCO Funds Investors

AIM FUNDS
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32. AMG public filings state that the board of directors for each AIM trust is
responsible for the management and supervision of each portfolia, or fund, caomprising the Trust.
In this regard, the mest recent Staiement of Additional Information for fiunds offered by the AIM
Growth Series (the “AIM Statement of Additional Information™), which iz availeble to the
investor upen request is typical of the Statements of Additional Information available for other
AIM/INVBSCO Punds. It states thet “The Board of Trustees approves all significant agreements
between the Trust, on behalf of one or mote of the Funds, and persons or companies furnighing
services to the Funds, The day-to-day operations of each Fund are delegated to the officers of the
Trust and to AIM, subject always to the objective(s), rastrictions and policies of the applicable
Pund and to the general supervision of the Board of Trustees.”

33. Morsover, the AIM Statement of Additional Information foar AIM Growth Series
dated May 1, 2003 stated, with respect 10 the duties of the Dirsctors, as follows:

The advisory agreement with AIM was re-approved for each Fund
by the Trusts Board .. In cgvaluating the fairness and
reasonableness of the advisory egreement, the Beard af Trusises
congidered ¢ variety of factars for each Fund, including: he
reguiremanis of eack Fumd for investment supsrvizory and
admiristrative servives; the quality of AIM 's services, including a
review of each Fund's Investment performance and AIM's
investment personnel; the sive of the fees in relationship to the
extent and qualify of the investment udvisory services rexdered;
Jeex charged to AIM's olher clients; fees charged by competitive
invesiment advisors; the size of the fees in light of services
provided other than investment advisory kervices; the expenses
bomne by each Pund az a parcentage of its assete and relagionship to
contractual limitations; any fee waivers (or payments of Fund
expenses) by AIM; ADM's profitability; the benefits received by
AIN from its relationship to esch Fund, including soft dollar
arrangements, end the sxtent to which each Fund shares in those
benefits; the organizational capabilitles and financial condition of
AIM and condifions and trends prevailing in the economy, the
securities markets and the mutuzal fund industry; and the historical
relationship between each Fund and ATM.

[Emphasis added. |
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34, The Statement of Additional Information also sete forth in greatsr detsil ths
purported process by which the investment managers are selected:

As investment advisar, AIM supervises all aspects of the
Funds' operations and provides investment advisory services to the
Funds. AIM obtains and evaluates economic, statistical and
financial infurmation fo formulate and implement investment
programs for the Funds,

AIM is also regponsgible for furnishing to the Funds, at
AIM's expense, the services of persons believed to be competent io
perform all supervisory and administrative services required by the
Punds, in the judgment of the truatses, to conduct their respective
businesses effectively, as well as the offices, equipment and other
facilitics necessary for their operations. Such functions include the
maintenance of cach Pund's accounts and records, and the
preparstion of all requisite corporate docurnents such as tax returmns
and reports to the SBC and sharcholders,

The Master Investment Advicary Agreement provides that
the Fund will pay or cause to be paid all expenses of such Fund
noi assumed by AIM, including, withour lmitation: broksrage
commissions, taxes, legal, audifing or governmental fees, the cost
of preparing share cerdficmtes, custodian, tramsfer and
shareholder service agemt costs, expemses of lissue, sale,
redemption, and repurchase of shares, expenses of registering
and quolifying shares jor sale, expenses relating o trustee and
shareholder meetings, the cost of preparing and distributing
raperty and notices to shareholders, the fees and other expenses
incurred by the Trust on behalf of each Fund in connection with
menbership in Investinent company organigations, and the cost
of printing coples of progpectuses and statemenss of aedditional
information distributed to the Funds' shareholders.

* * *

The Adminigtrative Services Agresment provides that it will
remzin in effect and cominue from year to vear only i such
contlnnance s speclficolly approved at least annually by the
Trust's Board of Nustees, mecluding the independent trustees, by
voted cast in person et & meeting called for such purpose. Under
the Administrative Services Agresment, AIM is entitled 1o receive
from the Punds retmbursement of its cosls or puch reassonable
compensation as may be approved by the Board of Trustess.
Currently, AIM i reimbursad for the services of the Trust's
principal financial officer and her ataff, and any expenses related to
fund accounting ssrvices.

[Bmphasis added.]
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35, INVBSCO public filings state that the board of directors for each INVESCO trust
is responsible for the management and supervision of each porifolio, or fund, camprising the
Trust. In this regard, the most recent Staternent of Additional Information for funds offered by
the INVBSCO Sector Funds (now the ATM Sector Funds Serics) {the “INVESCO Statement of
Additional Information'), which i3 available to .Lha investor updh request ie typical of the
Statements of Additional Information available for other AIM/INVESCO Funds. It states that
“The overall ditection and supervision of the Company come from the board of directors. The
board of directors is tesponsible for making sure that the Funds' general investment policies and
Frograms are carring out and that the Runds are properly administered.”

36, Moreover, the INVESCO Statement of Additional Information for INVESCO
Sector Serics dated Angust 1, 2002 stated, with respect to the duties of the Directors, es follows:

The advisory agrsement with AIM was re-approved for each Fund
by the Trust's Board ... In approving the Advisory Agresment, the
board primarily considered, with respect fo eack Fund, the
naiure, gquality, and axtent of the services provided under the
Agreemens and the overall faivness of the Agreement. The board
requested and eveluated information from INVESCO that
addressed specific factars designed to assist in the board’s
consideration of these issues.

[Emphasis addad.]
37.  The Statement of Additional Information alzo sets forth in greatsr detail the

purported process by which the mvestment managers are selected:

With respect to the nature and quality of the services provided, the
board reviewed, among other things (1) the overnll performance
results of the Punds in comparison to relevant indices, (2) a
summary for each Fund of the performance of a peer group of
investment companizs pursuing broadly similar  strategies
prepared by an independent data service, and (3) the degree of risk
underiaken by INVESCO a3 reflected by a riskistum
summary, also prepared by the independent date service, The
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board considered INVESCO's resources and responsiveness
with respect to Funds that have cxperienced performance
difficulties and discussed the offorts being made to improve the
perfrmances records of such Funds. Tke board also considered
the advantages to each Fund of having an advisor that is
associated with a global investment management organization.
In connection with its review of the quality of the execution of
the Funds' trades, the board considered INVESCO's nse In
Jend transactions of brokers or daglers that provided research
and other sevvices fo INVESCO or its affiliates, and the banefits
darived from such services to the Funds and to INVES(CO. The
board also conmsidered the qusality of the shargholder and
administrative services provided by INVESCO, as well as the
fim's positive compliance history.

With respect to the overall faimese of the Agreement, the board
primarily considered the fairness of fes avrangements and the
profitebility and any fall-out denefits of INVESCO ard its
Rfftliates from thely associatlon with the Funds. The board
reviewed information from &n independent data service about the
rates of compensation peid to investment advisars and overall
expense ratios, for funds comparable in gize, character, and
investment strategy to the Funds. In concluding that the benefits
accruing o INVESCO and itz affiliates by virtue of their
relationships with the Funds were reasonsable in comparison with

- the costs of providing investment sdvisory services and the
benefits accruing to each Fund, the board reviewed specific data
as to INVBSCO's profit or loss on cach Fund, and carcfully
examined INVESCO's cost allocation methodology, In this
connection, the board resquested that the Funds' independent
audifors review INVESCO's methodology for appropriateness,
The board concluded that approval of the Agreement was in the
best interest of the Funds' shareholders. These matters were
congidered by the Independent Directors working with experienced
1940 Act counsel that is independent of INVBSCO.

[ﬁmphasis added.]
38.  The Investment Compeny Institute (“ICI'), of which AMG and INVESCO are
members, recently describad the duties of mutual fund baards as follows:
More than 77 million Americans have chosen mutual funds to gain

convenient access to & professionally managed and diversified portfolio of
investments,
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Investors receive many other benefits by investing in mutual funds,
inciuding strong legal protections and full disclosure. In addition,
sharehclders gain sn extra layer of protection bacause each mutual fund
has a board of directors Jooking out for shareholders® interests. '

Unlike the directors of other corporations, mutual fund directors are
responsible for protecting consumers, in this case, the funds’ invesiors,
The unigue “watchdog® rels, which does not exist In any orker type of
contpany in America, provides invastors with the confidance of knowing
the directors oversee rthe advisers who muangge end service their
invesimenis,

In particuiar, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, the board of
directors of a muual fund ix charged with looking after how ihe fund
aperates and avarseeing maxters where the Interests of the fund and it

sharcholders differ from ihe interesty of lts lnvestment adviser or
MARGEER EHE CORIPARI

[Emphasis added.]’

39,  Intuth and in fhet, INVESCO and AMG'a boards of directors, i.e. the Director
Defendants, were captive 10 and controlled by INVBSCO and AMG respectively and the
Investment Advizer Defendants, who induced the Direstor Defendants to breach their stafutory
end fiduciary duties to manage and supervise the ADM/INVESCO Punds, approve all significant
agreements and otherwise take reasonable steps to provent the Investment Adviser Defendants
from skimming AIM/INVESCO Funds assetsa. In many cases, key ATM/INVESCO Funda
Directors were employees or former employees of the Investment Adviser Defendants and were
beholden for their positions, not to ADM/INVESCO Pund investors, but, rather, to the Investment
Adviser Defendants they were supposed to oversee. The Director Defendants served for

‘indefinite tetms 8t the pleasure of the Investment Adviser Defendants and formed purportedly

! The ICI deseribes iteelf an the natione) 2sseciation of the U.E. investment cormpany industry. Founded in
1540, its roernbership includes appraximately 8,601 awitual finds, 604 closedend fands, 110 exchange-traded
fands, and six epoasors of unit investrnent tnaets. Its routund fund members have 86,6 millicn individual
shareholders and manage approximately $7.2 trillion (n invesior assets. The quotation abervs g axcerptad froma
paper entitled Understanding the Role of Munisl Pund Direczory, available on the ICI's website at
httpeffwvew.iclorgAssuza/dirbrc_mf_directors.pdf.
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independent committees, charged with responsibility for billions of dollars of fund assets
(comprised largely of investors’ college and retiremnent savings).

40. To ensure that the Directars toed the line, the Invesiment Adviser Defendants
often recruited key fund Directors from the ranks of investment adviser companies and paid them
excessive salares fo; their service as Direstors, For sxample, Grahem, the Chainman and
director of AMG is also the director and/or trustes of various wgiétmd investment companies in
the ATM Pund complex,

41, In exchange for cresting and managing the ADM/INVESCO Punds, the
Investment Adviser Defendants charged the AIM/INVESCO Funds & vanisty of foes, each of
which was calculated as a percentage of assets under mamagement. Hence, the more money
invested in the funds, the greater the fees paid to INVESCO and AMG. In theory, the fees
charged to fund investors are negotisted at arm’s-length bhetween the fund board and the
investment management company and must be approved by the indspendent members of the
board. Howevcr, as a result of the Director Defendants’ dependence on the investment
management company, and its failure to properly manage the investment advisers, millions of
dollars in AIM/INVESECO Funds assets were Gansferred through fees paysble from
AIM/INVESCO Funde assets to the [nvestment Adviser Defenidants that wers of no benefit to
fund investora,

42.  As aresult of these practices, the mutual fiund industcy was enormously profitable
far INVESCO und AMG. In this regard, another Forbes article, published on September 15,
2003, stated az follows:

The average net profit margin at publicly held mutual fund firms was
18.8% last year, blowing away the 14.9% margin for ths financial indusfry
overall .. .. [flor the most part, customers do not enjoy the benefits of the

economies of scale created by baving larger funds. Indeed, once & fand
reaches q certain cvivical mass, the direciors kunow that thers is no
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discernible benefit from having the fund become bigger by drawing in
inare invesiors; In fact, they Anow the oppesits to be true - once o fund
becomes too large it loses the ability to trads in wud oat of positions
without hurting its Invesiors. [. . ]

The {mutnal fund] business grew 71-fold (20 fold it real terms) in the
two decades through 1999, yet costs as a percentage of assets somehow
managed to go up 29%.... Pund vendors have a way of stacking their
boards with rubber stamps, As famed investor Warren Buffett opincs in
Berkshire Hathaway's 2002 annual report: ‘Tens of thousands of
“indepsndent” directors, over more than six decades, have failed
miserably. A genuinely independent board would occasionally fire an
incompetent or overcharging fund advieor. That happens just about
never.” [Emphasis addad,]

43.  Plaintiffs and other members of each Clase never knew, nor could they have
known, from reading the fund prospectuses or otherwise, of the extent ta which the Investment
Adviser Defendants were uring so-called 12b-1 fees, directed brokerage (as dafined below) and
commirsions ta impropetly siphon assstg from the funds.

The Investment Adviser Defendants Used
Rule 12h-1 Marketing Fees For Improper Purposes

44, Rule 12b-1, promulgated by the SEC pussuant to the Investment Company Act,
prohibits mutual funds from directly or indireetly distributing or m‘nrketing their own shares
unless certain enumeratad conditions eet forth in Rule 12b-1 ere met. The Rule 12b-1 conditions
require that payments for marketing must be made pursuant to a written plan “describing all
material aspects of the proposed financing of distribution;” all agreements with any person
relating to implementation of the plan must be in writing; the plan must be approved by 2 vote of
the majority of the board of directors; and the board of dirsctors must review, at least quarterly,
“g written report of the amounts so expendad and the purposes for which such expenditures were
mads.” Additionally, the directors “have a duty to request and evaluate, and any person who is a
party to any agreement with such campeny relating to such plan shell have a duty to furnish,

such information as may reasonably be necessary to an informed determination of whether the
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plan should be implemented or continued.” The directors may continue tho plan “only if the
board of directors who vote to approve such implementation or continuation conclude, in the
exercise of reasonable business judgment, and in light of their fiduciary duties under state law
and section 36(a) and (b) [15 U.S.C. 802-35(a) and (b)] of the Act that there is a reasonadle
likelihood that the plan will bensgfit the company and its shareholders, ' [Emphasis added.)

45,  The exceptions to the Section 12b prohibition onl mutusl fund marketing wers
enacted in 1980 under the theory that the marketing of mutual funds, all things being equal,
should be enconraged becanse incresssd investment in mutual funds would presumnably easult in
economies of scale, the benefits of which would be shifled from fund managers to investors.
During the Class Period, the Director Defendents authorized, and the Investment Adviser
Defendants collectad, millions of dollars in purported Rule 12b-1 marksting and distribution
fees.

46, However, the purported Rule 12b-1 fees charged to AIM/INVESCO Funds
investors were highly improper because the conditions of Rule 12b-1 were not met. There was
no “reasonable likelihood” that the plan would benefit the company and ite shareholders, On the
contrary, as the funds were marketed and the number of fund investors incressed, the economiecs
of scale thereby created, if any, were hot passed on to AIM/INVESCO Funds investors, Rather,
AIM/INVESCD Funds management and other fees increased and this was a red flag that the
Director Defendants knowingly or recklessly disregarded. If anything, the ADM/INVESCO
,furu:la marketing efforts were creating diminished marginal returns under circurmnstances whers
increased fund size correlated with reduced liquidity and find performance. If the Direstor
Defendents reviewed written reports of the amounts expended pursuant to the AINVINVESCO
Funds Rule 12b-1 Plan, and the information pertaining fo agrecments entered into pursuant {o the

Rule 12b-1 Plan, on a quarterly basis as required — which seeme highly unlikely under the
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circumstances set forth herein —— the Director Defendants either knowingly or recklessly failed
to terminate the plans and the payments made pursuant to the Ruls 12b-1 Plan, even though such
payments not only harmed existing AIM/INVBSCO Funds sharcholders, buf alse wems
improperly used to induce brokers to breach their dutiss of loyalty to their prospective
AIM/INVESCQ Pundg investors,

47, Moreover, at least four of the AIM Funds and el;sven of the INVESCO Funds
were closed to new investors (“the Closed Funds™) and, consequently, the so-called 12b-1 fees
could not possibly have been used 10 market and distribute them. Nevertheless, the Investment
Adviser Defendants received Rule [2b-1 feas charged to the Closed Funds. The Closed Funds
that charged such Rule 12b-1 fees ars: AIM Limited Maturity Treasury Fund Class A, AIM
8mal] Cap Growth Fund Class A, Class B and Class C, INVESCO Core Equity Fund, INVESCO
Dynemics Fund, INVESCO Energy Fund, INVESCO Financial Services Fund, INVESCO Gold
& Precicus Metals Fund, INVESCO Health Science Fund, INVESCO Leisure Fund, INVESCO
S&P 500 Index Fund, INVESCO Technology Pund, INVESCO Total Return Pund and
INVESCO Utilities Fund.

48. As get forth below, in violation of Rule 12k-1 and Sceetion 28(e) of the Securities
Bxchangs Act, defendants made additional undisclosed payments to brakers, in the form of
excessive cammissions, that were not disclosed ar authorized by the AIM/INVESCO Funds Rule
{2ba1 plan.

The Investment Adviser Defendants Charpged Thelr
Overhead To AIM/INVESCO Funds Investors And Secrefly Pald
Exc¢essive Caommissione To Brokers To Steer Clients To AIM/INYESCO Funds

49.  Investment advisers routinely pay broksr commissions on the purchase and sale of

fund securities, and such commissions may, under certain circumstances, properly be used to
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purchage certain other services fram brokers as well. Specifioally, the Section 28(g) "safe
harbor” provision of the Sacurities Exchange Act carves out an exception {o the ruls that requirss
invesiment management companies to cbtain the best possible execution price for their trades,
Section 28(e) provides that fund managers shall not be deemed to have breached their fiduciary
duties “golely by reason of [their] having ceused the account to pay B. . . broker . .. in excess of
the amount of commission ancther... broker... would have charged for effecting the
transsction, if such person determined i good faith that the amount of the comrnission is
reasonable in relation to the value of the brokerage and research services provided.” 15 U.S.C.
§28(c) [Bmphasis added.]) In other words, funds are allowed to include in “comtnissions”
payment for not only purchase and zales execution, but also for apecified services, which the
SEC has defined to include, “any service that provides lawful and appropriate aszistance to the
money manager in the performance of his investment decision-mﬁking regponsibilities.” The
commission amounts charged by brakerages to investment advisers in excess of the purchase and
sale charges are known within the industry ag “Soft Dollars.”

50. The Investment Adviser Defendants went far beyond what is permitted by the
Section 28(e) safe harbor, The Investment Adviser Defendants used Soft Dollars to pay
overhead costs (for items such as computer hardware and softwars) thus charging
AIM/INVESCQ Funds investors for costs not ¢overed by the Section 28(e) safe harbor and that,
consigtent with the investment advisers’ fiduciary duties, properly should have been borne by the
Investment Adviser Defendants, The Investment Adviser Defendants also peid excessive
commissions to broker dealers on top of any real Scft Dollars to steer their clients to
AIM/INVESCO Funds and directed brokerage busicess to firms that favored AIM/INVESCO
Funds. Such payments and directed-brokerage payments weve used to furd gales confests and

other undisclosed financial incentives to push AIM/INVESCO Funds. These incentives created
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an undiselosed conflict of inferest and caused brokers to steer clients to AIM/INVBSCO Funds
regardless of the funds’ investment quality relative to other investment elternatives and to
thereby breach their duties of loyalty. By paying the excessive brokerage commissions, the
Investment Adviser Defendants additionally violated Section 12 of the Investment Company Act,
because such paymenta were not made pursuant to a valid Rule 12b-1 plan.

51. The excessive commissions did mot fund any services that benefited the
ADM/INVESCO Funds shareholders. This practice materially harmed Plaimtiffs and other
members of each Class from whom the Soft Dollars and excessive commissions were taken.,

52.  Addiiionally, on information and helief, INVESCO and AMG, similal.r {o other
members of the industry, have a practice of charging lower managemeit fees to institutional
clients than to ordinary mutual fund investors through their mutuel fund heldings. This
discriminatory treatment cannot be justified by any additional services to the ordinary investor

and is g further breach of fiduciary duties.
BER 17, 2003 ANNOUNCEMENT
53,  On November 17, 2003, these practices began to come to light when the SEC

issued & press release (the “November 17 SEC Release™) in which it announced a $50 million
settlement of an enforcement action sgainst Morgan Stanley Dean Witter relating to improper
mutual fund sales practices. The AIM Funds were subsequently identified as ono of the mutual
fund families that Morgan Stanley brokers were paid to push. In this regard, the relesse
gnnounced:

the instifution and simultaneous settlement of en enforcement

action against Morgan Stanley DW Inc. (Morgan - Stanley) for

failing to provide customers impartant information relating to their

purchases of mutual fund sheres. As part of the settlement, Morgan

Stanley will pay $50 million in disgargement and penaltics, all of

which will be placed in a Fair Fund for distribution to certain
Morgan Stanley customers.



id. [Emphasis

54.

Stemming from the SEC’s ongolng industry-wide Investigation of
mutual fund sales practices, this inguiry uncovered two distinct,
Sirmwide disclasure failures by Morgan Stanisy, The first relates
to Morgan Stanley’s “Partners Program® and ifs predecessor, in
which a select group of mutnal fund complexzs paid Morgan
Stanley substantial fees for preferred muarketing of their funds.
To incentivize its sales force 10 recommend the purchase of shares
in these “preferred” funds, Morgan Stanley peid increased
compensation to individual registered representatives and branch
managers on sales of those funds’ shares. The fund complexes
peid these fees in cash or in the farm of portfolio brokerage
commissions, [...}

added.]

The November 17 SEC release further stated:

The Commission’s Order finds that this conduct violated Section
17¢a)(2) of the Seourities Act of 1933 end Rule 10b-10 under the
Securities BExchange Act of 1934, Section 17(a)(2) prohibits the
meking of materially misleading statements or omissions in the
offer and sale of securitiss. Rule 10b-10 requirgs broker dealers to
disclose the source end amount of any remuneration recsfved from
third parties in connection with a securities transaction. The Order
gleo finds that the conduct viclated NASD Rule 2830(k), which
prohibits NASD members from favoring the sale of mutual fund
shares based on the receipt of brokerage commissions.

Stephen M, Cutler, Director of the Commission’s Division of
Enforcement, said: “Unbeknownst to Morgan Stanley's customers,
Morgan Stanley received monetary incentives -- in the form of
“shelf space” payments -- t0 sell particular muwal funds to ita
customers, When customera purchage mutual funds, they should
understand the nature and extent of any conflicts of interest that
may affect the trangastion.”

Morgen Stanley has agreed 1o setile this matter, without admitting
or denying the findings in the Commission’s Order. As part of the
settlement, Morpan Sianley will pay $25 million in disgorgement
and prejudgment interest.  In addition, Morgan Stanley will pay
civil penalfies totaling $25 million. [...]

In eddition, Morgan Stanley has undertaken fo, among other
things, (1) place on its website disclosures regarding the Partners
Program; {2) provide customers with & disclosure document that
will disclose, among other things, specific information concerning
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the Partners Program, and the differences in fees and expenses
connected with the purchase of different mutual fund share classes.

Finally, the Commission's Order censures Morgan Stanley and
orders it to cease-and-desist from comumitting or causing any
violations of Saction 17(a)(2) of the Securites Act of 1933 and
Rule 10b-10 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

* ¥ %

The NASD also announced today a ectiled action against Morgan
Stanley for violations of NASD Rule 2830(k) arising from the
Partners Program and its predecessor.

I
55, On November 18, 2003, The Waskington Post published an article entitled
“Morgsn Stanley Settles With SEC, NASD.” The article states in relevant part:

Investors who browught musnal funds from Morgan Staniey, the
nation'’s second-largest secwrities firm, didn't know fthat the
company wus fuking secret payments from some fund companies
io promuoie their products, according to aliegations that resulied in
a 350 million settlement agreement yesterday with the Securitiea
and Bxchange Commisgion.

In many cases, those aame investors were actually footing the hill,
indirectly, for the slanted recommendations, the SEC said. Some
of the 16 fund companies whose products wers pushed by Margan
brokers paid for the marketing help by letting Morgan handle some
of their stock and bond trading. The millions of dollars in
commirsions eamned by Morgen on that trading came oul ¢f
miutual fund share owners’ profits, acconding to the SRC.

* * "

Morgan s2ld yesterday that companies in ks “Partners Program®
fnciuded ATM Managonent Group Ing, ...

% x ¥

Yesterday’s setflement “goes to show that the mutual fund
managers as well as broker dealers have too often viewed mutnal
fund sharcholders as sheep to be sheared,” said Sen. Peter
Pitzgerald (R-I1l), who is investigating the industry. *“Congress
has to figure out the variety of ways people are heing sheared so
that we ean sfop it.”
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/4. {Emphasis added.]
56. On November 24, 2003, the Chicago Stm-Times published an erticle entitled

“Investor 'bill of rights’ doesn’t go far enough.” The article states, “Morgan Stanley's bil) of

rights reveals the company receives special payments from 16 funds groups... Such payments
provide these firms with “greater access” to Mozgan Stanley’s brokers, with all the fishiness that
implies.” '

57.  On Janvary 14, 2003, The Wall Street Journal published an article under the
headline, “SEC Readies Casez On Mutual Funds’ Deals With Brokers.” Citing “a perzon
familiar with the investigation,” the article notes that the SEC is “tlose to filing its first charges
against mutual fund companies related to srrangements that direct trading commissions to

brokerage finms that favor those fund companies® praducts,” The article stated in pertinent part

as followe;

The SEC kas been probing the business arrangements botween fund
companies and brokerage firms since last spring. It held o news
conference yesterday to announce ¥ has found widespread evidence that
brokerage firms stocroed investors fo ceviain mutual funds Because of
payments thgy recelved from fund companies or their investmeny
advisers as part of sales agreements.

Offioials said the egency has opened investigations into eight brokersge
firms and & dozen mutual funds that engaged in a Jongstanding practice
lmown as “revenus sharing.” Agency officials seid they expect that
number to grow &s its probe expands, They declined to name either the
funds or the brokerage firms.

The SEC geid paymenis varied between 0,05% and 0.04% of sales and up
to 0.25% of agsets that remained invested in the fund. [...]

People familiar with the investigation say regulators arg looking into
exwmples of canfliet of interest when fund companies use shareholdar
money o cover costs of sales agreementy instzad of paying the sales
costs themselves owt of the firm’s own pockets. The boards of funds,
too, could be subjsct fo scratiny for allowing sharshoiders’ commission
dollars to be used for these sales agreements. In other cases, the SEC iz
probing whether funds violated policies that wourld reguire costs
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assaciated with mtarketing a fund fo be included In a fund's so-called
1281 plan,

Id. [Bmphasis added.]

The Prospectnses Were Materjallv False And Misleading

58.  Plaintiffs and other members of each Class were antitled to, and did receive, one
or more of the prospectuses (the “Prospectuses™), pursuant to which the AIM/INVESCO Funds
shares were offered, each of which contained substantially the same materially false and

misleading statements and omissions regarding 12b-1 foes, cormmissions and Soft Dollars.

AIM Funds

59.  As stated above, the ATM Statement of Additional Information, referred to in
certain of AMG’s prospectuses and available to the investor upon request, stated as follows with
respect to Soft Dollars: -

In evaluatitig the fairmess and reesonableness of the advieory
agreement, the Board of Trustees considered a variety of factors
Jor each Fund, including: the requirements of each Fund for
imvestment supervisory and administrative services; the quality of
AIM's services, including a review of each Fund's investrnent
performance and AIM's investment personnel; the size of the fees
in relationship to the extent and qualkity of the investment advisory
services rendered; fees charged to ATMs other olients; fees
charged by competitive investment advisore; the size of the fees in
light of aervices provided other than invesitnent advisory secvices;
the expenses borne by each Fund as a percentage of its qssets
and relationship to consractual limltations; any fee waivers (or
payments af Fund expenses) by AIM; AIM's profitability; the
benefits recelved by AIM from s relationship to each Fund,
Including soft doliar arrangements, and the extent to whick sach
Fund shares In those beneflts; the organizational capabilities and
finanicial conditien of AIM and conditions and trends prevailing in
the economy, the securties markets and the mutual fund industry,
and the historical relationship between each Fund and AIM.

* * L]
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...[TIn recognition of research services provided to i, a Fund
may pay & broker higher commissions than those available from
another broker.

Research services received from broker-dealers supplement
AIM's own research (and the research of ite affilintes), and may
include the following types of information: statisticel and
background information on the U.B. and foreign coonomies,
industry groups and individual companics; forecasts and
interpretations with respect to the U.S, and forcign economies,
sccuritics, markets, specific industty groups and individual
companies; information on federal, state, local and foreign political
developments; portfolic management strategies; performance
information on securitiss, indexes and investment accounts;
information concerning prices of securities; and information
supplied by specialized services to AIM and to the Trust's trustess
with respect to the performance, investment activitics, and fees and
expenses of other mutual funds. Broker-deslers may communicate
such information elsctronically, crally, in written form or on
computer software. Research services may also include the
providing of electronic communications of trade information and
the providing of custody services, as well as the providing of
squipment used to communicste research information and the
providing of specialized consultations with ATM personnel with
respect to computerized systems and data fumished to ATV as a
component of other research services, the arranging of mestings
with management of companies, and the providing of access to
consultants who supply research information.

The cutside research assistance is useful to ADM since the
broker-dealers used by AIM tend to follow a broader universe of
securities and other matters than AIM's staff cen follow. In
addition, the research provides AIM with a diverss perspective an
financial markets. Regearch services provided to AIM by braker
dealers are available for the benefit of all accounts mansged or
advised by AIM or by itz affiliates. Some broker-dealers may
Indicate that the provision of revearck services is dependent upon
the generation of certaln specified levels of commissions and
underwrlting concessions by AIM's clients, Including the Funds
However, the Funds are not under any obligation to deal with any
broker-dealer in the exacution of transagtions in portfolio
sacurities.

In some cases, the researsh services are available only from
the broker-desler providing them. In other ceses, the research
services may be obtainable from alternative sources in return for
cash payments. AIM believes that the research services are
beneficial in supplementing AIM's resgarch and analysir and that
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they improve the quality of ADM's investment advice, The advisory
Jee paid by the Funds is not reduced because AIM recelves sich
services. However, to the extent that AIM would have purchased
research services had they not been provided by broker-dealers, the
expensez to AIM could bs considered to have been reduced
accordingly.

AIM may determine target levelr of commission business
with various brokers on behalf of its clients (including the Funds)
over a cerfain fime period, The tarpget levels will be hazed upon the
following factors, zmong others: (1) the execution services
provided by the broker; (2) the research services provided by the
broker; and (3) the broker’s interest in mutual funds in general and
in the Runds and other mutual funds advised by AIM or AT M
Capitze] Manegement, Inc. {collectively, the "AIM Punds") io
particular, including sales of the Funds and of the other AIM
Funds. In connection with {3} above, the Funds' tradez may be
executed directly by dealers that sell shares of the AIM Funds or
by other broker-deslers with which such dealers have clearing
Ermangements, consistent with obtaining best execution. AIM will
not use a specific formula in connection with any of these
considerations to determine the target levels,

[Bmphasis added.]

INVESCO Funds
.60, Az gtated above, ths INVESCO Statement of Additienal Inforrnation, referred to

in certein of INVESCO and AMG’s prospectuses and evailable to the investor upon request,
stated ag follows with reepect to Soft Dollars;

Whils INVESCO Becks reasonably competitive comnmigsion rates,
the Fundy do not necessarily pay the Iowest commission or spread
availahle. INVESCG is permitted fo, and does, consider
qualitative factors in addition {0 price in the selecsion of brokers,
Among other thiags, INVESCO considers the guallty of
axecutions obtalned on a Fund's portfolio transactlons, viewed in
ferms of the size of transactions, prevailing market conditiony in
the security purchased or sold, and general economic and market
corditions. INVESCO has found that a broker's consistent
abillty to exscute wansactions is af least as bnpanant as the price
the braker charges for those services.

In seeking to enewrs that the commiseions cherged & Fund are
consistent with prevailing end reasonable commissions, INVESCO
monifors brokerage industry practices and commissions charged by
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broker-dezlers on transactions effected for other instimitional
investors like the Funds.

Consistent with the standard of seeking to obtain favorable
execution on portfoliv transactions, INVESCO may select brokers
that provide research services to INVESCO and the Company, s
well a8 other INVESCO mutual funds and other accounts managed
by INVESCO. Research services include stetistical and anafytical
reports relating fo issusrs, industries, securities and econamic
faciors, and trends, which may be of aseistance or valus to
INVESCO in making informed investment decisions. Ressarch
gervices prepared and furnished by brokers through whick a Fund
effects securities transactions may be used by INVESCO in
servicing all of its accounts and not dll guch services may be used
by INVBSCO in comnection with & particular Fund. Conversely, 2
Fund receivea benefits of research acquired through the brokerage
trangactions of other clients of INVESCQO.

In arder to obigin relichle wrade exccuiion and research services,

INVESCO may utilize brokers that charge higher commissions

than other brokers would charge for the same transaction, This

praciice is known az "paying up " However, cven when paying

up, INVESCQ is obligated to obtain favorsble exscution of a

Fund’s trensactons.

[Brnphasis added.]
61.  The Prospeciuses failed to disclose and misrepresented, inter alia, the following
material and damaging adverse facts which damaged Plaintiffy and other members of esch Class:

{a)  that the Investment Advieer Defendants authorized the payment from fund
asgets of oxcessive commissions to broker dealers in exchange for preferential marketing
services and that such payments were in breach aof their fiduciary duties, in violation of Section
12b of the Investment Company Act, and unprotected by any "'safe harbar™;

)] that the Investment Adviser Deferxdants directed brokerage payments to
firms that favored AIM/INVESCO Funda, which was a form of marketing that was not disclosed
in or authorized by the AIM/INVESCO Funda Rule 12b-1 Plan;

©) that the AIM/EINVESCO Fundz Rule 12b-1 Plan was not in compliance
with Rule 12b-1, and that payments made purduant to the plan were in violation of Section {2 of
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the Investment Company Act because, among other reasons, the plan was not properly eveluated
by the Director Defendants and there was not a reasonable likelihood that the plan would benefit
the compeany and its shareholders;

(d) that by paying brokers io aggressively steer their clients to
AV/INVESCO Funds, the Investment Adviser Defendants were knowingly aiding and abetting
a breach of fidueiary duties, and profiting from the brakers’ impmber conduct;

(e}  that any cconomies af scale achieved by marketing of the AIM/INVESCO
Punds to new investors were not passed on to AIM/AINVESCO Punds investors; on the contrary,
a3 the ADM/INVESCO Funds grew, fees charged to AIM/INVESCO Funds investors continued
to increase;

() that defendants improperly used Soft Dollars and excessive commissions,
pald from AIM/INVESCO Funds assefs, to pay for overhead expenses the cost of which should
have been borne by INVESCO and AMG and not AIM/INVESCO Funds investors; end

(g)  that the Director Defendants had shdicated their duties under the
Investment Company Act and their common law fiduciary dufiss, that they failed to monitor and
supervise the Investment Adviser Defendants and that, as a conssquence, the [nvestment Adviser
Defendants were able to systematically skim millions and millions of dollars from the
AR/INVESCO Punds.

CDUNTI
Againsgt The Investment Adviser Defendants
For Violations Of Sectlon 34(b) Of The Investment
m n Behalf laes
62,  Plaintiffs repeat and reallegs sach and every ellsgation contained above as if fully

set forth hergin,
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63.  This Count is asserted against the Investment Adviser Defendants in their role as
investment advisers to the AIM/INVESCO Funds,

64.  The Investment Adviser Defendants made untrue statements of material fact in
registration statements and reponts filed and disseminated pursuant to the Investment Company
Act and omitfed to state facts necessary to prevent the staternents made therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, from being materiaily falee and misleading. The
Inveatment Adviser Defendants failed to disclose the following:

(a)  that the Investment Adviser Defendants authorized the payment from fund
assets of excessive commissions to broker dealers in exchange for preferential marketing
services and that such payments were in breach of their fiduciary duties, in viclation of Section
12b of the Investment Company Act, and unprotected by any "'safe harbor”’;

(t)  that the Investment Adviser Defendants directed brokerage payments to
firms that favored AIM/INVESCO Punds, which was & form of marketing that was not disclosed
in or authorized by the AIM/INVESCO Funds Rule 12b-1 Plan; 4

(c) that the_A]MfINVBSOO Funds Rule 12b-1 Plan was not in compliance
with Rule 12b-1, and that payments made pursuant to the plan were in viclation of Section 12 of
the Investment Company Act because, among other reasons, the plan was not properly evaluated
by the Director Defendants and there was not & reasonable likelihood that the plan would benefit
the company and its shareholders;
| {dy hat by psying brokers to sggrossively stesr their clients to
AIM/INVESCO Funds, the [nvestmen! Adviser Defendants were knowingly aiding and abetting
& breach of fiduciary duties, and profiting from the brokers’ improper conduct;

{8) that any aconomiss of scals achisved by marketing of the AIM/INVESCO

Funds to new investors were not passzd on to AIMINVESCO Funds investors; on the confrary,
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as the AIM/INVESCO Punds grew, fees charged to AIM/INVESCO Funds investors continued
to increase,

1) that defendants improperly used Soft Dollars and excessive cammissions,
paid from AIM/INVESCO Funds assets, to pay for overhead expensen the cost of which should
have been borne by AMG and not AIM/INVESCO Funds investors; and

(g that the Director Defendants had abdic#ted their duties under the
Investment Company Act and their common law Hduciary dufics, that the Director Defendants
failed to moniter and supervise the Investment Adviser Defendants and that, as & consequence,
the Investment Adviser Defendants were able to gystematically skim millions and millions of
dollars from the AIM/INVESCO Punds,

65. By reason of the conduct descrihad above, the Investment Adviser Defsndanis
viclated Section 34(b) of the Investment Company Act.

66. As a direct, proximats and foreseeable result of the Investment Adviser
Defendants’ violation of Section 34(b} of the Investment Cbmpany Act, AIM/INVBSCO Funds
irrvestors have incurred damages.

67.  Plaintiffs and each Class have been specially injured by Defendents’ viclations of
Section 34(b) of the Investment Company Act. Such injuries were suffered directly by the
shareholders, rather than by the ADM/INVESCO Funds themaelves.

68.  The Imvestment Adviser Defendants, individusliy and in corncert, directly and
ijndirectly, by the use, meang or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails,
engaged and participated in a oontinuous course of conduct te conceal such adverse taterial

information,
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COUNT 11

Against The Investment Adviser Defendants Pursuant
To Section 36(b) Of The Investment Company Act

Derlvatively Qo Behalf Of The AIM/ANVESCO Fuuds

69.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation comtained sbove and
otherwise incorporate the allegations contained above,

70.  This Count is brought by each Class (a8 AIM/INVESCO Funds securities holders)
on behalf of the AIM/INVESCOO Funds against the Invesiment Adviser Defendants for breach of
theit fiduciary duties as defined by Section 36(b) of the Inveatment Company Act.

71.  The Investment Adviser Defendants had a fiduciary duty to the AIM/INVESCO
Funds and each Cless with reapect (o the receipt of compensation for services and of payments of
& material nature made by and ta the Investment Adviser Defendants.

72. The Investment Adviser Defendants violated Section 36(b) by improperly
charging investors in the AIM/INVBSCO Funds purported Rule 12b-1 marketing fees, and by
drawing on AIM/INVESCO Punds essets to make undisclosed payments of Soft Dollars and
excessive commissions, as defined herein, in violation of Rule 12b-1,

73. By resson of the conduct described above, the Investment Adviser Defendants
violated Section 35(b) of the Investment Company Act,

74.  As 8 direct, proximate and foreseeable result of the Investment Adviser
Defendants” breach of the fiduciary duty of loyalty in their mle as investment advisers to
AIM/INVESCO Fundse invesiors, AIM/INVESCO Funds and each Class hays incurred millions
of dellars in damages,

75.  Plaintiffs, in this count, seek to recover the Rule 12b-1 fess, Soft Dollars,
excessive commiseions and the management fees charged the AIM/INVESCO FPunds by the

Investment Adviser Defendants.
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COUNTIIE

Against AMG and INVESCO(As Control Persons Of AIM/INVESCO Funds) And The
Director Defeadanis (As Control Persour Of The Investment Adviser Defendants) For
Violation Of Bection 48(a) Of The Investment Company

Act By Each Class And Derivatively On Behalf Of The AIM/INVE

76.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above as if fully
st forth herein,

77.  This Count is brought pursuant to Section 48(s) of the Investment Company Act
against INVESCO and AMG, as control person of AIM/INVESCO Funds, and the Director
Defendants as Control Parsons of the Investment Adviser Defendapts who caused the Investmant
Adviser Defendants to commit the violations of the Investment Company Act alleged herein, It
is sppropriate to treat thege defendants as a group for pleading purposes and to presume that the
misconduct complained of herein ere the collective actions of INVESCO and AMG and the
Director Defendants.

78.  The Investment Adviser Defendants are lisble under Sections 34(b) of the
Investment Comipany Act to each Clags and under 36(b) of the Investment Corapany Act to the
AIM/INVESCO Funds as set forth herein,

79, INVBSCO, AMG and the Director Defendents were “control persons™ of the
Investment Adviser Defendants and caused the violations complained of herein. By virfus of
their positions of operationa! control and/or authority over the Investment Adviser Defendants,
AMG and the Director Defendants directly and indirectly, had the power and euthonty, and
exercised the same, to cause the Investment Adviser Defendants to engage in the wrongful
conduet complained of herein,

80.  Pursuant to Section 48(a) of the Investment Cotnpany Act, by reason of the

foregoing, INVESCO, AMG and the Director Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs to the same
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extent as are the Inveatment Adviser Defendants for their primary violations of Sections 34(b)
and 36(h) of the Investment Company Act.

8]1. By virtue of the foregoing, Plaintiffs and other Class members are entitled to
damages againgt INVESCO, AMG and the Director Defendants,

COUNTIY

Against The Investment Adviser Defendanfs Under Section 215 Of The
Investment Advizers Act For Violationg Of Section 206 Of The Investment

Advisers Act Derivatively On Behalf Of The AIM/AINVESCO Funds
82.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and evary allegation contsined abave es if fully

set forth herein,

83.  This Count ia based upon Section 215 of the Investment Advisers Act, 15 U.5.C,
§80b-15.

84, The Investtnant Adviser Defendants served as “investment adviects™ to the
AIM/INVESCO Funde and other members of each Class pursuant to ths Investment Advisems
Act, |

85.  As fiduciaries pursuant to the Investment Advisers Act, the Inveetmeﬁt Adviser
Defendants were required to serve the ADM/INVESCO Funds in & manner in acoordance with the
federal fiduciary standards sst forth in Section 206 of the Investment Advisers Act, 15 US.C.
§R0b-6, poveming the conduct of investment advieers.

86. During the Class Period, the Investment Adviser Defendants breached their
vﬁduciary duties to the AIM/INVESCO Funds by engaging in a deceptive contrivance, echeme,
practice and course of conduct pursuant to which they knowingly and/or recklessly engaged in
acts, tansactions, practices and courses of business which operated as a fraud upon the

AIM/INVESCO Funds. Ag dstailed above, the Investment Adviser Defendants skimmed money

from the AIM/INVBSCO Funds by charging and collecting fees from the AIM/INVESCO Funds
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in violation of the Investment Company Act and the Investrnent Advisers Act, The purpose and
effect of eaid scheme, practice and course of conduct wes to enrich the Investment Adviser
Defendants, among other defendants, at the expense of the AIM/INVESCO Funds. The
Investment Adviser Defandants breached their fiduciary duties owed to the ADM/AINVESCO
Funds by engaging in the aforesaid transactions, practices and courses of business knowingly or
recklessly so as to constitute a deceit and fraud upon the AIM/INVESCO Funds.

87.  The Investment Adviser Defendants are lisble as direot participants in the wrongs
complained of herein. The Investment Adviser Defendants, because of their position of authority
and control aver the AIM/INVERCO Funds wers able to and did control the faes charged to und
collected from the AIM/INVESCO FPunds and otherwise control the operationa of the
AIM/INVESCO Funds, |

88.  The Investment Adviser Defendants had a duty to (1) dissaminate accurate and
truthful information with respect to the AMINVESCO Funds; and (2) truthfully end uniformly
act in accordance with their stated policies and fiduciary responsibilities to the AIM/INVESCQ
Funds. The Investment Adviser Defendants participated in the wrongdoing complained of herein
in order to prevent the AIM/INVEBSCO Runds from kuowing éf the Investrnent Adviser
Defendants® breaches of fiduciary duties including: (1) the charging of the AIM/INVESCO
Punds and AIM/INVESCC Funds investors improper Rule 12b-1 marketing fees; (2) making
improper undisclosed payments of Soft Dollars; (3) making unauthorized uge of “directed
hmkmgs" as a marketing tool; and (4) charging the ADM/INVESCO Funds for ¢xcessive and
improper comimisgion payments to brokers.

89.  As a result of the Investment Advisers’ multiple breaches of their fiduciary duties

owed 1o the AIM/INVESCO Funds, the AIM/INVESCO Funde were damaged.
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0. The AIMINVESCO Funds are entitled to rescind their investment advisory
contracts with the Investment Adviser Defendants and recover all fees paid in connection with
their enrollment pursuant fo such agreements.

COUNTY

Breach Of Fiduclary Duty Agalnst
The Investment Adviser Defendants On Behalf Of Each Class

51.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the preceding allegations ax though fully set
forth herein.

92, Az advisers {0 the ADM/INVESCO Funds the Investment Adviser Defendants
were fiduciaries to the Plaintiffs and other members of each Class and were raquired to act with
the highest obligations of good faith, loyalty, fair dealing, due care and candar.

93.  As set forth above, the Investmnent Adviser Defendanfs breached their fiduciary
duties to Plaintiffs and each Class.

S4.  Plaintiffy and each Cless have been specially injured as a direct, proximate and
foreseeable result of such breach on the part of the Investment Adviser Defendants and have
suffered substantial damages,

95.  RBecause the Investment Adviser Dsfendsnte acted with reckless and willful
disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs and other mambers of each Clags, the Investment Adviser
Defendants are liable for punitive damages in an amount to be determined by the jury.

COUNT V1

Breach Of Fiduclary Duty Against The Directar
Defendants O Belalf Of Engh Class

96.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of {he preceding allegations as though fully set

forth herein,
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97.  As AIM/INVESCO Funds Directors, the Director Dafendants bad a Siduciary duty
to the AIM/INVESCO Funds end AIM/INVBSCO Funds investors to supervise and monitor the
Investment Adviser Defendants.

98.  The Director Defendants breached their fiduciary duties by reason of the acts
alleged herein, including their knowing or reckless failure o prevent the Investment Adviser
Defendents from (1) charging the AIM/INVBSCO Funds and AIM/INVBSCO Funds investors
improper Rule 12b-1 marketing fees; (2) making improper undisclosed payments of Saft Dollars;
{3) making wmauthorized use of “directed brokerage” a5 a marketing tool, and (4) charging the
ADM/INVESCO Funds for sxcessive and improper commission payments to brokers,

99.  Plaintiffs and each Class have been specially injured as a direct, proximate and
forezeeable result of such breach on the part of the Investment Adviser Defendants and have
suffered substantia) damages,

100. Because the Investment Adviser Defendants acted with reckless and willful
disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs and other members of cach Class, the Investment Adviser
Defendants are liable for punitive damages in an amount (o be determined by the jury.

DNT VI

Alding And Abetting A Breach Of Fiductary Duty Agalnst
The Inyestment Adviser Defendants On Beh

101, Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the preceding allegations as though fully set
forth hmﬁn.

102, At all times hersin, the broker dealers that sold ADMM/INVESCO Funds had
fiduciary duties of loyelty to their clients, including Plaintiffs end other members of each Clgss,

103, Ths Investment Adviser Defendants knew or should have known that the broker

dealera had these fiduciary duties,



104, By accepting improper Ruls 12b-1 fees, Soft Dollars and excessive commissions
in exchange for aggreesively pushing ATM/INVESCO Funds, and by failing to disclose the
receipt of such fees, the brokerages breached their fiduciary duties to Plaintiffs and the other
members of each Class,

105. The Investment Adviser Defendants possessed actual or constructive knowledge
that the brokerages were breaching their fiduciary duties, but nonetheless p&patrated the
fraudulent scheme alleged herein.

106. The Investment Adviser Defendants’ sctions, a8 described in this complaint, were
a subgtantial factor in cauging the losses suffered by Plaintiffs and the other members of each
Class. By participating in the brokerages® breaches of fiduciary duties, the Investment Adviser
Defendants are lizble therefor.

107.  As a direct, proximate and foresecable result of the Investment Adviser
Defendants; knowing participation in the brokerages’ breaches of fiduciary dutics, Plaintiffs and
each Claas have auffared demages.

108. Because the Investment Adviser Defendants acted with reckiess and willful
disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs and other members of each Class, the [uvestment Adviser
Defendanis ars linble for pumitive damages in an amount to be determined by the jury.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for relief and judgment, as follows:

A. Determining that this action is a proper class scton and certifying
Plaintiffs es the Class representatives and Plaintiffs’ counse! as Class Counsel pursuant to Rule

23 of the Feders! Rules of Civil Procedure;
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B. Awnrding compensatory darnages in faver of Plaintiffs and the other Class
members against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustainied as a result of
defendants® wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including intarest thereon;

C. Awarding punitive damages in favor of Plaintiffs and the other Class
members against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as & result of
defendants® wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon;

D. Awarding the AIM/INVESOO Funds rescission of their contracts with the
Investment Adviser Defendants, including recovery of all fees which would otherwise apply, and
recovery of all fees paid to the Investment Adviser Defendants;

E. Ordering an accounting of all AIMANVESCO Fund-related fezs,
comumissions, and Soft Dollar payments;

F, Qrdering reatitution of all unlawfully or discriminaterily obtained fees and
charges;

G.  Awarding auch ather and further relief as this Court may deem just and
proper, including any extraprdinary egquitsble andfor injunctive relief as permitted by law or
equity to attach, impound or otherwise restrict the defendants’ asgets to assure that Plaintiffs and
each Clags have an effective remedy;

H. Awarding Plaintiffs and each Class their reasonable costs and expenses
incurred in this action, including coumsel fees and expert fees; and

L Such other and further relief 2s the Court may deem just and proper.



JURY

AL DEMANDED

Plaintiffe herehy demeand a trial by jury.

Dated: Tuly __, 2004
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